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MEMORANDUM 

 
DATE:  September 25, 2017 
 
TO:  Board of County Commissioners 
 
THRU: Kevin B. Kelleher, Deputy CFO/Deputy Director 
  Finance and Administrative Services Department 
 
FROM: Brenda J. Billingsley, Director 
  Purchasing Division 
 
SUBJECT: Supplemental Board Agenda Item No. 43 - September 26, 2017 

Regarding the June 13, 2017 - Commission Meeting – Agenda Item No. 67 
Motion to Approve Final Ranking of the Qualified Firms for RFP No. 
R2112554P2, External Audit Services 

 
Attached please find Cone of Silence communication dated September 24, 2017 
submitted by Joseph M. Goldstein, Shutts & Bowen, LLP, on behalf of S. Davis & 
Associates, P.A. regarding the subject procurement.  As a follow up to the Board’s 
direction, the approval of the Final Ranking for this procurement was conditionally 
approved on June 13, 2017 (Item #67), subject to an unsuccessful protest. 
 
A timely Protest was submitted and subsequently denied on July 25, 2017.  An Appeal of 
the denial was filed and the hearing is ongoing.  The initial hearing was held on September 
22, 2017 and a reconvened hearing is scheduled for Wednesday September 27, 2017.  
A final determination regarding this matter has not been rendered by the Hearing Officer.  
 
At the request of Mr. Goldstein, the attached Cone of Silence communication is being 
submitted to the Board prior to the September 26, 2017 Board meeting.   
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us.  
 
BJB/lg 
 
c: Bertha Henry, County Administrator 
 George Tablack, CPA, Chief Financial Officer 
 Robert Melton, County Auditor 
 Joni Armstrong Coffey, County Attorney 

Andrew Meyers, Chief Deputy County Attorney 
 



 

 

JOSEPH M. GOLDSTEIN 
PARTNER 
Shutts & Bowen LLP 
200 East Broward Boulevard 
Suite 2100 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33301 
DIRECT  (954) 847-3837 
FAX       (954) 888-3066 
EMAIL    jgoldstein@shutts.com 

 

 

September 24, 2017 

BY EMAIL  

Joni Armstrong Coffey (jacoffey@broward.org)  

County Attorney 

Broward County, Florida 

115 South Andrews Avenue, Room 423 

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 

 

Brenda J. Billingsley, Director (BBillingsley@broward.org) 

Purchasing Division, Finance and Administrative Services Department 

Broward County, Florida 

115 South Andrews Avenue, Room 212 

Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 

 

Re: Responsibility Regarding RSM US LLP as to Solicitation No.: R2112554P2 

for External Audit Services 

Dear Ms. Coffey and Ms. Billingsley: 

We represent S. Davis & Associates, P.A. regarding its bid protest of Solicitation No.: 

R2112554P2 for External Audit Services.  Independent of the bid protest, we request that this 

letter and its attachments be provided to the Board of County Commissioners for its 

determination of the responsibility of the purported awardee RSM US LLP.  Pursuant to the 

Solicitation, the Evaluation Committee’s determination of RSM’s responsibility is merely a 

recommendation to the awarding authority, which in this case is the Board.  RFP, at Standard 

Instructions, § B (2
nd

 paragraph).  

 

Since the Board’s initial review of the proposed award, “significant new information” 

regarding RSM’s responsibility has been discovered.  Following the Board’s initial consideration 

of the procurement, in our initial protest and our protest appeal, we demonstrated that RSM 

failed to disclose two pending litigation matters that involved allegations of fraud, negligence, 

and professional malpractice, among other allegations, against RSM.  (1) RS Investments, Ltd., 

et al. v. RSM US LLP, in Cook County, Illinois (Exhibit 1); and (2) MVC Capital, Inc. v. RSM 

US LLP, in Westchester County, New York (Exhibit 2).  As you know, these out of state 

complaints were not discovered by the County Attorney’s review of the vendors’ litigation 

history because such review is limited to lawsuits involving Broward County based on a new 

policy approved by the Board in April 2017. 
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Joni Armstrong Coffey, County Attorney 

Brenda J. Billingsley, Director 

September 24, 2017 
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While Purchasing did not make any determination of whether these lawsuits were 

“material” or not, Ms. Billingsley did believe that they constituted sufficient “significant new 

information” to reconvene the Evaluation Committee.  While this information did not cause the 

Evaluation Committee to reconsider its previous actions, the Evaluation Committee’s findings 

are only recommendations and it would be potentially misleading to withhold these complaints 

from the Board.  If the information was or potentially was “significant new information” for the 

Evaluation Committee to consider then such subsequent information may be material to the 

Commission’s original decision.  Cf. Broward Code of Ordinances, § 18.7.j (indeed such may 

even qualify to permit a Commissioner from the losing side to move to rescind.  Id. at § 18.7.j.1.) 

 

Further, during the course of preparing for the bid protest hearing, we have learned that 

RSM again omitted material information that must be brought to the attention of the 

Commissioners as to RSM’s responsibility.  When RSM responded to the protest on June 29, 

2017, it (through its counsel) stated “RSM has filed a Motion to Dismiss based on MVC’s lack 

of privity with RSM. [A c]op[y] of [the] Motion to Dismiss [is] attached for your review.” 

Exhibit 3, June 29, 2017 Letter from Counsel to Carolyn Messersmith, with attachments, at pp. 

1, 129-145.
1
 Clearly, this statement was meant to give Purchasing and the Evaluation Committee 

the impression that MVC’s complaint would (or at least could) be dismissed for failure to state a 

claim. (The other matter, the RS Investments, Ltd. complaint that had been pending has been 

dismissed with prejudice following the Evaluation Committee meeting.) 

 

 During the bid protest hearing, we learned, however, that at the time RSM made the 

statement to Purchasing about the MVC motion to dismiss, RSM had already withdrawn its 

motion to dismiss at a court hearing. Exhibit 4, RSM Stipulation with Exhibit B noting the 

withdrawal of the motion to dismiss as notated by the Court.  In other words, on June 29, 2017 

RSM advised the County that it would (or at least could) prevail on a motion to dismiss, even 

though that motion to dismiss had been withdrawn on April 6, 2017. RSM’s initial failure to 

disclose the material litigation was compounded by its failure to accurately describe the status of 

one of the matters.  Such conduct establishes that RSM is not a firm that has the integrity to be 

the County’s auditor.  Therefore, the Commission should rescind its prior vote and then find 

RSM nonresponsible for failing to disclose “material” litigation and for failing to accurately 

describe the status of the withdrawn motion to dismiss to Purchasing when asked about the 

pending lawsuits.   

 

We respectfully request that you bring this matter to the attention of the Commissioners 

at the Board meeting on Tuesday, September 26, 2017.  Further, to the extent that the County 

determines that RSM’s failures to disclose material litigation against the company are a 

misrepresentation, then the County’s Procurement Code, Section 21.49, requires that the matter 

be referred to the County Attorney’s Office for further consideration and referral to the State 

Attorney’s Office for criminal prosecution 

 

                                                 
1
 Pagination as per Bates numbers in lower right corner. 



Joni Armstrong Coffey, County Attorney 

Brenda J. Billingsley, Director 

September 24, 2017 
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Sincerely, 

SHUTTS & BOWEN LLP 

 

Joseph M. Goldstein 

Andrew E. Schwartz 

 

Daphne Jones, Assistant County Attorney (djones@broward.org) 

Glenn Miller, Assistant County Attorney (gmiller@broward.org) 
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Exhibit 2



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER 

MVC CAPITAL, INC., 

Plaintiff, 

-against- 

RSM US LLP, 

Defendant. 

TO THE ABOVE NAMED DEFENDANT: 

Index No.: 

SUMMONS 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

VENUE: Plaintiff designates 
Westchester County as the place of 
trial. Venue is based upon the County 
in which Plaintiff resides. 

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to answer the Complaint in this action, and to serve 
a copy of your Answer, or, if the Complaint is not served with this summons, to serve a Notice of 
Appearance, on the Plaintiff's Attorneys within twenty (20) days after the service of this 
summons, exclusive of the day of service (or within thirty (30) days after the service is complete 
if this summons is not personally delivered to you within the State of New York); and in case of 
your failure to appear or answer, judgment will be taken against you by default for the relief 
demanded in the Complaint. 

Dated: December 23, 2016 
LOWEY DANNENBERG COHEN 

& HART, P.C. 

 

By: 

DEFENDANT: 

RSM US LLP 
f/k/a McGladrey LLP 
c/o Corporation Service Company 
80 State Street 
Albany, NY 12207-2543 

 

Richard W. Cohen 
Uriel Rabinovitz 
One North Broadway, Suite 509 
White Plains, NY 10601-2310 
Tel. No.: (914) 997-0500 

{2687 / CMP / 00138706.DOCX v7} 

FILED: WESTCHESTER COUNTY CLERK 12/23/2016 01:43 PM INDEX NO. 69544/2016

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 12/23/2016
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER 

MVC CAPITAL, INC., 

 

Index No.: 

-against- 

RSM US LLP, 

Plaintiff, 

Defendant. 

Date Filed: December 23, 2016 

COMPLAINT 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Plaintiff MVC Capital, Inc. ("MVC" or "Plaintiff"), by its attorneys, Lowey Dannenberg 

Cohen & Hart, P.C., for its Complaint against Defendant RSM US LLP f/k/a McGladrey, LLP 

("McGladrey" or "Defendant"), alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION  

1. In 2014, Plaintiff lent $6 million to G3K Displays, Inc. (f/k/a Projuban, LLC) (the 

"Borrower") based upon the integrity of its 2013 financial statements, which showed the 

Borrower was solvent and had a growing and highly profitable business. 

2. Plaintiff made it a condition precedent to the loan that Borrower have its 2013 

financial statements audited by a reputable national accounting firm to confirm their reliability. 

3. Borrower hired Defendant to conduct the audit, and informed Defendant that it 

did so to satisfy Plaintiff's condition precedent. 

4. On April 3, 2014, Defendant issued an unqualified audit report on the Borrower's 

2013 financial statements, whose (i) statement of operations reported 2013 net income of more 

than $5 million on over $33 million of sales, and (ii) balance sheet reported a net book value 

over $4 million, and accounts receivable of more than $17 million at December 31, 2013. 
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5. The financial statements disclosed that two customers, Foot Locker, Inc. 

("Footlocker") and Adidas Group ("Adidas"), accounted for 85% of the Borrower's revenues 

and 87% of the Borrower's accounts receivable. 

6. In reliance upon Defendant's April 3, 2014 audit report, on April 14, 2014, 

Plaintiff lent $6 million to Borrower. 

7. On April 24, 2014, Plaintiff learned from one of Borrower's employees that the 

Borrower's financial statements were fraudulent, the Borrower's revenues and December 31, 

2013 accounts receivable from Foot Locker and Adidas were negligible, Borrower was insolvent, 

and Plaintiff's $6 million loan was lost and unrecoverable. 

8. Defendant issued its unqualified April 3, 2014 audit report without having 

confirmed with authorized representatives of Foot Locker or Adidas the validity of more than 

$15 million of accounts receivable supposedly owed by them that were included in Borrower's 

December 31, 2013 balance sheet. 

9. Unlike with an audit of a client with a large and diversified customer base 

comprising hundreds or thousands of accounts receivable, the principal task for Defendant in 

auditing Borrower's December 31, 2013 financial statements was to verify the revenue earned 

and confirm the validity of the receivables Borrower claimed were due from just these two 

customers. 

10. Defendants knew its audit report was a condition precedent to Plaintiff's loan of 

$6 million and communicated directly with Plaintiff in the course of its audit. 

11. Defendant's negligent misrepresentation of the Borrower's financial statements 

foreseeably and proximately caused Plaintiff to lose $6 million. 

2 
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PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff MVC is a publicly traded-business development company (NYSE: 

"MVC"), headquartered at 287 Bowman Ave, Purchase, New York, and registered to do 

business in New York. Plaintiff is an externally managed, non-diversified closed-end 

management investment company, which provides equity and debt investment capital to fund 

growth, acquisitions and recapitalizations of small and mid-market companies, in a variety of 

industries. 

13. Defendant McGladrey provides audit, tax and consulting services focused on 

middle market companies, and employs more than 8,000 employees in 80 offices nationwide. In 

2015, Defendant rebranded itself as "RSM US LLP." 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

14. McGladrey has done business in the State of New York continuously since 1922, 

and has been registered to do business in the State of New York continuously since at least 1995. 

McGladrey maintains an office at 1185 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036. 

McGladrey's website states "The New York Practice is part of the Tri-State Operating Unit 

which services clients in Connecticut, New York and Northern New Jersey. Clients throughout 

New York State and Northern New Jersey are served primarily from our New York City offices. 

The 600+ employees of the Tri State Operating Unit of RSM assist more than 1,000 businesses 

and more than 5,000 individuals in the area." See rmus.com/locations/new-york.html.  

15. MVC's headquarters and principal place of business are in Purchase, New York, 

in Westchester County. 

3 

4 of 13



FACTS  

16. In September 2013, Glenwood Capital, an investment bank, introduced MVC to 

Borrower as a lending opportunity. 

17. Borrower claimed to be a fast growing and profitable designer, installer and 

marketer of made-to-order retail product display fixtures for large chain shoe retailers. 

Borrower's owners were CEO Steven Kaitz ("Kaitz"), Latchmee Mahato ("Mahato") and 

Jonathan Wheeler ("Wheeler"). 

18. After reviewing Borrower's unaudited financial statements, MVC tentatively 

offered to lend $10 million to Borrower in installments, with a first installment of $6 million. 

19. However, as a condition precedent to its investment, MVC required comfort 

concerning the reliability of Borrower's financial statements from a reputable national 

accounting firm. 

20. In response, Borrower hired McGladrey to report on Borrower's financial 

statements. 

21. On December 16, 2013, Gina Zamarelli, the Chief Financial Officer of Borrower, 

emailed Adrienne Anderson of McGladrey, with copies to Shivani Khurana and Puneet Sanan of 

MVC and two representatives of Glenwood Capital, stating: 

Adrienne, it looks like MVC will be requiring McGladrey to 
perform a review of some kind for 9/30/13 ... I am proposing we 
have a [4:30] conference call with MVC. 

Ms. Anderson emailed all parties in response: "Works for me." 

22. Following further discussions, MVC informed Borrower that MVC would require 

an audit of Borrower's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 (the "Audit") 

as a condition precedent to making the $6 million loan. 

4 
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23. Borrower informed McGladrey of MVC's heightened requirement, and 

McGladrey agreed to perform the Audit, with the knowledge and understanding that it was asked 

to do so in order to provide MVC with comfort that Borrower's financial condition and operating 

results were consistent with its December 31, 2013 financial statements. 

24. McGladrey and MVC communicated with one another orally and in writing 

during McGladrey's Audit engagement. 

25. On March 6, 2014, Adrienne Anderson of McGladrey sent a draft of the audit 

report to MVC's Shivani Khurana via email. 

26. On April 3, 2014, McGladrey completed its Audit and tendered the April 3, 2014 

audit report to Borrower, which immediately forwarded it, together with the Borrower's audited 

December 31, 2013 financial statements, to MVC. 

27. Defendant's April 3, 2014 audit report on Borrower's December 31, 2013 

financial statements was unqualified. 

28. Borrower's December 31, 2013 financial statements reported total assets at 

December 31, 2013 of $20.3 million, including accounts receivable of $17.7 million, net sales of 

$33.5 million, and net income of $5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

29. Borrower's December 31, 2013 Accounts Receivable represented 87% of 

Borrower reported current assets and 80% of its reported total assets, making the Accounts 

Receivable far and away the most important factor of the reliability of Borrower's financial 

statements, Borrower's solvency, and Borrower's viability as a going concern. 

30. In Note 7 to Borrowers 2013 amended financial statements, titled "Major 

Customers," Borrower reported that Foot Locker and Adidas accounted for 85% of Borrower's 

net sales in 2013 and 87% of its Accounts Receivable at December 31, 2013. 

5 
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31. Accordingly, the reliability of Borrower's December 31, 2013 financial 

statements, its solvency, and its viability as a going concern depended upon the validity of the 

Accounts Receivable Borrower claimed were due from Foot Locker and Adidas. 

32. McGladrey understood this. 

33. McGladrey's unqualified audit report on Borrower's December 31, 2013 financial 

statements stated: 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
combined financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the combined financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the combined financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the combined financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control.... 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Projuban, LLC d/b/a G3 Display and its combined affiliate as of 
December 31, 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

6 
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34. McGladrey negligently performed its auditing duties, failing to perform the Audit 

in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards ("GAAS"). McGladrey failed 

to exercise professional standards of care necessary to opine that Borrower's December 31, 2013 

financial statements presented fairly Borrower's financial position and the results of its 

operations, in particular by failing to properly verify reported revenues and accounts receivable 

from Foot Locker and Adidas. 

35. McGladrey knew that Borrower, a first time client, was a high-risk audit client, 

whose viability as a going concern was dependent upon the authenticity of the accounts 

receivable from Foot Locker and Adidas. Verification of just those two accounts receivable and 

testing of the related revenues should have been McGladrey's primary audit objective, and 

McGladrey should have performed that task with a high degree of professional skepticism, 

requiring the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate reliable evidence of these two accounts to 

support its April 3, 2014 audit report. 

36. If McGladrey had performed the Audit competently, it would not have been able 

to verify the Borrower's receivables and revenues from Foot Locker and Adidas and would not 

have issued an unqualified audit report. 

37. Without McGladrey's unqualified April 3, 2014 audit report, Plaintiff would not 

have lent $6 million to Borrower. 

38. McGladrey knew that Plaintiff was Borrower's prospective lender, that the loan 

was dependent upon its delivery of an unqualified audit report on Borrower's December 31, 

2013 financial statements, and knew that Plaintiff was relying upon those financial statements 

and McGladrey's unqualified report thereon as a material condition precedent to making the $6 

million loan. 

7 
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39. McGladrey communicated not only with the Borrower in the course of its Audit, 

but also with Plaintiff. 

40. Rather than operate as a competent independent auditor should have under the 

circumstances, McGladrey took instruction from Borrower concerning how to confirm its 

accounts receivable. 

41. Borrower reported $9,728,582 of accounts receivable were owed by Foot Locker 

at December 31, 2013, in footnote 7 of its McGladrey-audited financial statements. 

42. Borrower told McGladrey to confirm receivables from Foot Locker with Robert 

Rainier, whose email address Borrower gave McGladrey. In violation of GAAS, McGladrey 

followed Borrower's instruction and emailed the address provided by Borrower on February 26, 

2014, seeking confirmation of the validity of invoices purportedly owed by Foot Locker to 

Borrower at December 31, 2013. 

43. By return email to McGladrey on February 28, 2014, Rainier (or someone 

purporting to be Rainier) wrote "I can now confirm that the invoices attached are outstanding 

and our accounting team is in the process of approving them to be paid." The return email 

identified Rainier as "Divisional VP — Franchise Development," not an employee in Foot 

Locker's treasury or accounting department. 

44. Most of the invoices confirmed by Foot Locker through Rainier's February 28, 

2014 email were fabrications and therefore were not outstanding receivables as of December 31, 

2013. 

45. In fact, as of December 31, 2013, there were only $296,500 of receivables 

outstanding from Foot Locker to Borrower, or only 3% of the $9.7 million Borrower reported 

8 
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were owed by Foot Locker in Borrower's McGladrey-audited December 31, 2013 financial 

statements. 

46. Rainier (or the email recipient purporting to be Rainier) was unauthorized by Foot 

Locker to confirm Foot Locker's trade debt obligations. 

47. McGladrey did not confirm Rainier's authority to confirm debts of Foot Locker. 

48. No reasonable person, much less an independent auditor, would accept that a 

supposed "Divisional Vice President of Franchise Development" would have authority to verify 

Foot Locker's trade debts, or accept an email from such a person as adequate confirmation of the 

validity of a majority of an audit client's $17 million of reported receivables. 

49. If McGladrey had simply communicated with Foot Locker's payables department, 

it would have learned that the receivables could not be confirmed. 

50. Borrower reported $5,669,767 of accounts receivable were owed by Adidas at 

December 31, 2013, in footnote 7 of its McGladrey-audited financial statements. 

51. McGladrey's confirmation regarding the Adidas accounts receivable came from 

Borrower's insiders, who gave McGladrey emails supposedly confirming the amounts from 

"Vicki LoBue," whose emails claimed she was an "accounts payable D-H" at Adidas. 

52. The domain name on the LoBue emails was "adidas-us.com" not Adidas' 

corporate email domain name of "adidas-group.com." 

53. In fact, as of December 31, 2013, there were actually no receivables outstanding 

from Adidas to Borrower. 

54. Vicki LoBue (or the email recipient purporting to be Vicki LoBue) was 

unauthorized by Adidas to confirm its trade debt obligations. 
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55. McGladrey did not confirm "Vicki LoBue's" authority to confirm debts of 

Adidas. 

56. No reasonable person, much less an independent auditor, would accept that a 

supposed "accounts payable D-H" —whatever that means—would have authority to verify 

millions of dollars of Adidas' trade debts, or accept an email from such a person as adequate 

confirmation of the validity of more than 35% of an audit client's receivables. 

57. If McGladrey had simply communicated with Adidas' payables department, it 

would have learned that the receivables did not exist. 

58. In January 2015, Kaitz, Mahato and Wheeler were criminally indicted by a Grand 

Jury for the Southern District of New York for securities and wire fraud. Kaitz pled guilty to 

bank fraud and was sentenced to 40 months in jail. Mahato plead guilty to conspiracy to commit 

wire fraud and bank fraud and received a 24-month jail sentence. Wheeler pled guilty to fraud 

and received a 21-month sentence. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  
(Negligent Misrepresentation) 

59. Plaintiff realleges each of the foregoing paragraphs of the Complaint as though 

fully set forth herein. 

60. McGladrey understood that Plaintiff would rely on the integrity of Borrower's 

December 31, 2013 financial statements in deciding whether to lend Borrower $6 million. 

61. Plaintiff expressly conditioned its willingness to lend to Borrower on 

McGladrey's Audit of Borrower's December 31, 2013 financial statements. 

62. McGladrey understood the purpose of its retention by Borrower to audit its 

financial statements was to satisfy Plaintiff's condition precedent to making the $6 million loan. 

63. McGladrey understood and expected that Plaintiff would rely on its April 3, 2014 
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audit report in deciding whether to lend Borrower $6 million. 

64. To that end, McGladrey communicated directly with Plaintiff in the course of 

performing the Audit. 

65. Plaintiff justifiably and reasonably relied on Defendant's April 3, 2014 audit 

report in lending $6 million to Borrower. 

66. McGladrey's Audit was grossly negligent, certifying as reliable Borrower's 

financial statements that materially misrepresented its financial condition and results of 

operations, and which portrayed Borrower as solvent, and successful going concern, when in fact 

it was insolvent and had only nominal operations. 

67. McGladrey negligently performed its auditing duties, failing to comply with 

GAAS and to exercise professional standards of care to verify revenues and confirm accounts 

receivable reported by Borrower, a first-time audit client, most notably those from Foot Locker 

and Adidas. 

68. If McGladrey had followed GAAS and exercised due care in performing the 

Audit of Borrower, it would not have issued the unqualified April 3, 2014 audit report, and MVC 

would not have lent $6 million to Borrower. 

69. As a direct, foreseeable, and immediate consequence of McGladrey's negligent 

Audit, MVC has incurred a loss of $6 million, plus foreseeable expenses and losses associated 

with such loss, with the precise amount to be proven at trial. 

70. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered against Defendant awarding 

damages of $6 million plus reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this action, including but 

not limited to, interest, attorney's fees and experts fees. 

11 
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Dated: December 23, 2016 
White Plains, New York 

LOWEY DANNENBERG COHEN 
& HART, P.C. 

By: 	e41—,a). it,e,e-- 
Richard W. Cohen 
Uriel Rabinovitz 
One North Broadway, Suite 509 
White Plains, New York 10601-2310 
(914) 997-0500 

Counsel for Plaintiff MVC Capital, Inc. 

{2687 / CMP / 00138706.DOCX v7} 	 12 
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Exhibit 3



 

 

Mark J. Stempler, Esq. 
Shareholder 
Board Certified Construction Lawyer 
LEED Green Associate 
Phone: (561) 820-2884   Fax: (561) 832-8987 
mstempler@bplegal.com  
 
 
625 N. Flagler Drive, 7th Floor 
West Palm Beach, Florida  33401 June 29, 2017 

Via E-Mail: cmessersmith@broward.org 

Carolyn Messersmith, Purchasing Agent 
Broward County Purchasing Division 
115 S. Andrews Avenue, Room 212 
Fort Lauderdale, FL  33301 

Re: RFP R2112554P2 - External Audit Services - Response to 6/26/17 Request 

Dear Ms. Messersmith: 

The undersigned law firm represents RSM US LLP (“RSM”) in regard to the above 
captioned Request for Proposals (the “RFP”).  Please accept this correspondence in response to 
your request to RSM on June 26, 2017.  In that request, you specifically sought additional 
information regarding two lawsuits filed against RSM, cited in the Protest filed by S. Davis & 
Associates, P.A. 

The first legal matter referenced in your request was filed by RS Investments Limited, et 
al., in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois.  In that case, which concerns allegations that go 
back ten years or more, Plaintiffs are foreign investment funds which allege that they lost money 
through investments in Lancelot Cayman, an entity established primarily to fund loans to an entity 
controlled by Thomas Petters.  It was later revealed that Petters – not Lancelot Cayman - was 
perpetrating a massive Ponzi scheme.  RSM had no relationship with Petters and the Plaintiffs 
freely admit that the auditor defendants were unaware of the Ponzi scheme.  RSM is vigorously 
defending this action and has filed its Motion to Dismiss which is fully briefed and pending before 
the court.   Copies of the briefing documents are attached for your review. 

The second lawsuit referenced in your request was filed by MVC Capital, Inc. in 
Westchester County, New York.  The Plaintiff is a business development company which 
primarily invests in small to midsize companies.  The Plaintiff invested $6M in G3K Displays, 
Inc. (“G3K”)   Unbeknownst to the Plaintiff and RSM, G3K and its principals perpetrated an 
extensive fraud, fooling numerous parties into believing it had much more revenue than it 
claimed.  Three G3K principals and a former G3K customer’s employee each admitted to their 
role in the fraud, and were convicted of various crimes.  MVC likely cannot recover its investment 
from G3K or its principals.  MVC’s relationship with RSM is attenuated - it had no direct 
relationship with RSM, thus RSM has filed a Motion to Dismiss based on MVC’s lack of privity 
with RSM.  Copies of Motion to Dismiss are attached for your review. 

1



Carolyn Messersmith, Purchasing Agent 
June 29, 2017 
Page 2 

 

RSM denies any liability or wrongdoing and is vigorously defending these claims.  Further, 
these cases do not have any bearing on the service to be performed for Broward County.  Neither 
case involves auditing services for a governmental agency.  Neither case involves anyone from the 
government auditing division of RSM.  Neither case involves any RSM personnel that will be 
providing services for Broward County.  For these reasons, and those stated below, RSM believes 
these cases are immaterial to its response to this RFP. 

We hope that you can appreciate that due to the ongoing nature of the litigation, RSM is 
not able to provide additional details beyond what is in the public record. If additional documents 
that have been filed with the courts are needed from either of the cases, please let us know and we 
will seek to provide them. 

RSM has never been named in a lawsuit regarding the auditing of a government agency 
locally, or nationally.  In addition, none of the proposed RSM personnel for this RFP have ever 
been involved in any litigation related to the audits of government agencies.  As described more 
fully in the RFP Response, RSM currently serves or has served dozens of public governmental 
agencies in Florida, including other large counties like Broward County.   

RSM is a national audit, tax and consulting services firm.  It operates in more than 80 cities 
in nearly 30 states across this country, and employs approximately 8,000 people.  RSM has been 
in business for more than 90 years.  Like any large national professional services firms, RSM is 
subject to various forms of litigation, like these two cases, in the standard course of business.  For 
this reason, RSM maintains significant insurance coverage to insulate itself from the potential 
impacts of litigation.  RSM does not consider these lawsuits to be material to its financial condition 
as a whole and does not expect that they will in any way impact its ability to perform the services 
contemplated in its proposal for Broward County or its clients generally.   

  

2



Carolyn Messersmith, Purchasing Agent 
June 29, 2017 
Page 3 

Thank you for your consideration of the foregoing.  As the recommended awardee, RSM 
stands ready, willing and able to perform Broward County’s auditing services.  RSM is a 
responsible proposer and is fully capable and qualified in all respects to perform the contract 
requirements with the integrity and reliability which will assure good faith performance.  If you 
have any additional questions, or need additional information, please do not hesitate to contact the 
undersigned. 

Sincerely, 

 
Mark J. Stempler 
For the Firm 

MJS2/lb 
cc: Brenda Billingsley (via e-mail w/ enclosures: bbillingsley@broward.org) 

Glenn Marcos (via e-mail w/ enclosures: gmarcos@broward.org) 
Glenn Miller (via e-mail w/ enclosures: gmiller@broward.org) 
Daphne Jones (via e-mail w/ enclosures: dajones@broward.org) 
Karen Walbridge (via e-mail w/ enclosures: kwalbridge@broward.org) 
Constance Mangan (via e-mail w/ enclosures: cmangan@broward.org) 
Bob Feldman (via e-mail w/ enclosures: bob.feldmann@rsmus.com) 
Brett Friedman (via e-mail w/ enclosures: brett.friedman@rsmus.com) 

 
 
ACTIVE: E24387/384583:9890161_1  

3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER

MVC CAPITAL, INC.,

Plaintiff,

-against-

RSM US LLP,

Defendant.

Index No. 69544/2016

DEFENDANT RSM US LLP’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW
IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION TO DISMISS

ARNOLD & PORTER
KAYE SCHOLER LLP
Veronica E. Callahan
Ian Jay
Harry Fidler
250 West 55th Street
New York, NY 10019
(212) 836-8000

Attorneys for Defendant
RSM US LLP

March 21, 2017

FILED: WESTCHESTER COUNTY CLERK 03/21/2017 10:59 PM INDEX NO. 69544/2016

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 9 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 03/21/2017

1 of 17 129



ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ..................................................................................................1

STATEMENT OF FACTS............................................................................................................1

ARGUMENT..................................................................................................................................4

I. NEW YORK LAW REGARDING ACCOUNTANT LIABILITY BARS
MVC’S CLAIM AGAINST RSM. ...................................................................................4

II. THE ALLEGATIONS IN MVC’S COMPLAINT FAIL TO MEET THE
HIGH THRESHOLD FOR THIRD PARTY CLAIMS AGAINST AN
ACCOUNTANT.................................................................................................................8

A. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM was Aware that its Financial
Reports Would be Used As a Basis for MVC’s Lending Decision. ...................8

B. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM was Aware that MVC Would
Rely on its Financial Reports and Intended for MVC to Do So. .....................10

C. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM Acted In a Way Demonstrating
RSM’s Awareness of MVC’s Reliance on the Financial Reports As a
Basis for MVC’s Decision to Lend to G3K........................................................11

CONCLUSION ............................................................................................................................13

FILED: WESTCHESTER COUNTY CLERK 03/21/2017 10:59 PM INDEX NO. 69544/2016

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 9 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 03/21/2017

2 of 17 130



iii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
CASES

Breytman v. Olinville Realty, LLC,
5 A.D.3d 703 (2d Dep’t 2008)...............................................................................................4, 9

Credit Alliance Corp. v. Arthur Andersen & Co.,
65 N.Y.2d 536 (1985), amended, 66 N.Y.2d 812 (1985) .................................................passim

CRT Invs., Ltd. v. BDO Seidman, LLP,
85 A.D.3d 470 (1st Dep’t 2011) ..............................................................................................12

Jacobs v. Macy’s E., Inc.,
262 A.D.2d 607 (2d Dep’t 1999)...............................................................................................4

LaSalle Nat’l Bank v. Ernst & Young LLP,
285 A.D.3d 101 (1st Dep’t 2001) ......................................................................................11, 12

Ossining Union Free Sch. Dist. v. Anderson LaRocca Anderson,
73 N.Y.2d 417 (1989)................................................................................................................6

Parrott v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP,
263 A.D.2d 316 (1st Dep’t 2000), aff’d, 95 N.Y.2d 479 (2000) .......................................11, 12

Sec. Pac. Bus. Credit, Inc. v. Peat Marwick Main & Co.,
586 N.Y.2d 695 (1992)..........................................................................................................6, 7

Signature Bank v. Holtz Rubenstein Reminick, LLP,
109 A.D.3d 465 (2d Dep’t 2013)......................................................................................passim

Signature Bank v. Holtz Rubenstein Reminick,
Index No. 15936/2011, 2012 WL 11980647
(Sup. Ct. Nassau Co. Aug. 14, 2012)...................................................................................7, 12

State St. Trust Co. v. Ernst,
278 N.Y. 104 (1938)..................................................................................................................9

Sykes v. RFD Third Ave. 1 Assocs., LLC,
15 N.Y.3d 370 (2010)..........................................................................................................6, 10

Ultramares Corp. v. Touche,
255 N.Y. 170 (1931).........................................................................................................passim

Westpac Banking Corp. v. Deschamps,
66 N.Y.2d 16 (1985).........................................................................................................passim

FILED: WESTCHESTER COUNTY CLERK 03/21/2017 10:59 PM INDEX NO. 69544/2016

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 9 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 03/21/2017

3 of 17 131



iv

STATUTES

CPLR § 3211(a)(1) ..........................................................................................................................1

CPLR § 3211(a)(7) ..........................................................................................................................1

OTHER AUTHORITIES

76 N.Y. JUR. 2D Malpractice § 10 ...................................................................................................5

16 AM. JUR. 2D Proof of Facts § 641...............................................................................................5

American Institute of CPAs, Guide to Financial Statement Services: Compilation,
Review and Audit .......................................................................................................................8

Kenneth Davis, Accounts’ Liability for Negligently Certifying Financial Reports:
The Legacy of Ultramares v. Touche, 61 N.Y. ST. B.J. 30 (1992) ........................................5, 6

FILED: WESTCHESTER COUNTY CLERK 03/21/2017 10:59 PM INDEX NO. 69544/2016

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 9 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 03/21/2017

4 of 17 132



Defendant RSM US LLP (“Defendant” or “RSM”) respectfully submits this

memorandum of law in support of its motion for an order dismissing the complaint with

prejudice pursuant to CPLR § 3211(a)(7) for failure to state a claim, and pursuant to CPLR §

3211(a)(1) on the basis of documentary evidence, on the grounds that Plaintiff MVC Capital,

Inc. (“Plaintiff” or “MVC”) fails to properly plead the elements of a claim for negligent

misrepresentation against an auditor or accountant.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Plaintiff in this case is attempting to recover its loan losses from a party with whom

it had no relationship: its borrower’s auditor, RSM. Plaintiff lent money to former advertising

and display company, G3K Displays, Inc. (formerly known as Projuban, LLC) (“G3K”).

Unbeknownst to the Plaintiff and RSM, G3K and its principals perpetrated an extensive fraud,

fooling a variety of parties into believing that it was a successful, financially secure company,

when the company was, in fact, essentially worthless. Three G3K principals, a former G3K

employee and a former G3K customer’s employee each admitted to their role in the fraud, and

are or were incarcerated. The responsibility for this criminal fraud lies with the individuals who

perpetrated it. MVC cannot attempt to pin blame on fellow victim, RSM, a party with whom

MVC had no contractual relationship.

New York is among the American jurisdictions which require third parties seeking to

assert claims against auditors to meet the high standard of “near privity” with the auditor. MVC

fails to meet this well-established standard under New York law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant RSM US LLP, formerly known as McGladrey LLP (“RSM”), is a national

audit, tax, and consulting services firm. (Affirmation of Ian Jay, dated March 21, 2017 (“Jay

Aff.”), Exhibit A) (the “Complaint”) ¶ 13. Plaintiff MVC is a publicly-traded business
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2

development company, which invests in small and mid-market companies through the provision

of equity and debt investment capital. Complaint ¶ 12. G3K was a company which claimed to

be a designer, installer, and marketer of retail product displays for large chain retailers.

Complaint ¶ 17. Prior to its dissolution, G3K was owned by three individuals, Steven Kaitz,

Latchmee Mahato, and Jonathan Wheeler. Id.

In 2013, G3K -- not MVC -- hired RSM to report on G3K’s financial statements.

Complaint ¶ 20. The audit engagement letter was signed by G3K and RSM and MVC is not

referenced anywhere in the letter. Jay Aff., Exhibit B. The engagement letter specifically states

that the final audit report will be directed to the members of G3K’s operating company, not to

MVC, id. at 5, and requires G3K to obtain permission before utilizing the report as part of a

securities offering. Id. at 3.

The Complaint cites only limited, sporadic contact with MVC by RSM. The first

communication cited is a December 13, 2013 email from the CFO of G3K to a representative of

RSM, copying two MVC employees, advising RSM that “it looks like MVC will be requiring

McGladrey to perform a review of some kind for 9/30/13” and proposing a conference call.

Complaint ¶ 21. A review is a very different type of engagement than the audit ultimately

performed and the reference to the potential “review” being “as of 9/30/13” indicates that G3K

and MVC were contemplating work on an interim financial period, not an audit as of fiscal year-

end, which is the engagement that RSM actually performed. Additionally, the Complaint fails to

allege whether the conference call referenced in the email actually occurred, and if so, who

participated and what was discussed.

The only other communication cited in the Complaint other than unspecified “oral and

written” communications (Complaint ¶ 25), is a March 6, 2014 email from RSM transmitting a
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3

draft of the audited financial statements, copying a group of people including one MVC

employee. The email appears to be directed to the audit firm of BDO, the firm actually retained

directly by MVC, and reads as follows:

Dear Michael [Kuczborski, of BDO],

I have attached the 2012 and 2013 audit draft reports. As mentioned this morning, final
release final [sic] is pending a couple of administrative items which we hope to wrap up
at the beginning of the next week. We do not anticipate any changes to the numbers as
presented in the drafts attached.

We will be able to accommodate the request to review the 2012 and 2013 audit
workpapers locally in our Blue Bell, PA office. Please just provide me with a tentative
date so that I can start coordinating. I will also send over the required access letter
which we will need to be executed by BDO prior to allowing the workpapers to be
reviewed.

Please don’t hesitate to reach out if you need anything else.

Jay Aff., Exhibit C (emphasis supplied). This email indicates that MVC was not content to rely

on RSM’s audit opinion, but rather wanted its own independent review of the sufficiency of the

financial statement information and underlying evidential matter, performed by its own directly

contracted audit firm.

RSM provided its final audit report only to its client, G3K. Complaint ¶ 26. The

Plaintiff alleges that G3K then provided the report to MVC, but makes no assertion that RSM

was included in that communication or was aware it occurred. Complaint ¶ 26.

Shortly after MVC made its loan, the magnitude of the fraud committed by the G3K

principals became clear and a federal criminal investigation ensued, culminating in plea bargains

and jail time. Each of the G3K principals was indicted, pled guilty to criminal fraud charges, and

sentenced to significant federal prison terms. Complaint ¶ 58.1 In announcing the sentencing,

1 Steven Kaitz was sentenced to 40 months in prison; Latchmee Mahato was sentenced to 24 months in prison; and
Jonathan Wheeler was sentenced to 21 months in prison. Complaint ¶ 58. In addition, Zachary Kaitz (a graphic
designer employed by G3K who created the false documentation of nonexistent receivables) and Kathleen Smith (a
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4

federal prosecutors specifically noted that the G3K principals “took elaborate steps to […]

prevent G3K’s lenders and outside auditors from discovering the fraud.” United States

Department of Justice, United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York,

Four Executives Sentenced In Manhattan Federal Court for Their Roles In Multimillion-Dollar

Corporate Accounting Fraud (Sept. 9, 2015) (emphasis supplied).2

ARGUMENT

In reviewing this motion to dismiss, this Court must accept the facts alleged in the

Complaint to be true and accord the Plaintiff the benefit of favorable inferences. Jacobs v.

Macy’s E., Inc., 262 A.D.2d 607, 608 (2d Dep’t 1999). However, the Court need not accept as

true bare legal conclusions or allegations of fact that are not credible. Breytman v. Olinville

Realty, LLC, 54 A.D.3d 703, 704 (2d Dep’t 2008).

I. NEW YORK LAW REGARDING ACCOUNTANT LIABILITY BARS MVC’S
CLAIM AGAINST RSM.

For nearly a century, the law in New York has been clear and explicit: in actions seeking

to hold accountants liable for alleged misstatements, the only parties which may pursue claims

are those who actually engaged the accountant, and third-parties meeting the high standard of

being in near-privity with the auditor. New York courts have recognized, time and again, that

permitting third parties who may have seen an audit report to maintain claims against the

accountant who prepare it would effectively cripple the auditors’ ability to do business in New

York, and the clients’ ability to obtain high-quality audit services. This policy is effectively

designed to ensure that only in certain, very specific situations can a third party meet this

standard. A review of the precedential cases in this area shows that MVC does not do so here.

former employee of Foot Locker who participated in a kickback scheme involving the false confirmation of
nonexistent receivables) were each sentenced to four months in prison.

2 Available at https://www.justice.gov/usao-sdny/pr/four-executives-sentenced-manhattan-federal-court-their-roles-
multimillion-dollar.
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5

New York’s strict near-privity policy has its origins in the landmark Court of Appeals

decision, Ultramares Corp. v. Touche, 255 N.Y. 170 (1931). Writing for the Court, Chief Judge

Cardozo commented on the “assault upon the citadel of privity”, and searched for the “antidote .

. . to the overuse of the doctrine of liability for negligent misstatement.” Id. at 185. Judge

Cardozo’s “antidote” was to limit auditor liability for negligent misrepresentation to those parties

either in privity of contract with the auditor or those with such a close relationship with the

auditor as to approach a relationship equivalent to privity. Otherwise, Chief Judge Cardozo

feared auditor liability for an “indeterminate amount” to an “indeterminate class” for failure to

uncover fraudulent behavior masked by the audit client’s deceptive practices. Id. at 179. That is

to say, without a clear limitation on potential liability, an auditor might be held answerable to

anyone who might happen to view an audit report or audited financial statements and later claim

reliance, an untenable situation which would expose an accountant to limitless liability and make

the practice of accounting in New York a practical impossibility.

In the years since Ultramares, which has been cited hundreds of times by the courts of

this state, this principle has become the foundation of New York law regarding accountant and

auditor liability. Numerous authorities have commented on the strict nature of New York’s

policy. See, e.g., 76 N.Y. JUR. 2D Malpractice § 10 (noting that, under Ultramares, “failure to

allege a relationship between the parties even approaching one of the practical equivalent of

privity prevents recovery under any negligence theory”) (emphasis supplied); 16 AM. JUR. 2D

Proof of Facts § 641 (noting that under Ultramares, New York law does not recognize a cause of

action against an accountant, even for gross negligence, unless the claim rises to the level of

actual fraud, which MVC does not allege here); Kenneth Davis, Accountants’ Liability for

Negligently Certifying Financial Reports: The Legacy of Ultramares v. Touche, 64 N.Y. ST. B.J.
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30 (1992) (noting that New York’s standard for accountant liability is particularly strict in

comparison to those of other jurisdictions).

Courts in New York, including the Court of Appeals, have consistently affirmed, and

indeed expanded, the strong limitation on accountant liability articulated in Ultramares. See,

e.g., Sec. Pac. Bus. Credit, Inc. v. Peat Marwick Main & Co., 586 N.Y.2d 695, 703 (1992)

(applying “sufficiently approaching privity” standard); Ossining Union Free Sch. Dist. v.

Anderson LaRocca Anderson, 73 N.Y.2d 417, 424-25 (1989) (extending Ultramares rule to

actions against architectural firm, and noting that the “imposition of such broad liability [for non-

contractual parties] is unwise as a matter of policy”); Sykes v. RFD Third Ave. 1 Assocs., LLC, 15

N.Y.3d 370, 372-73 (2010) (extending Ultramares rule to actions against engineering firm).

As the policy has crystalized over the decades, a clear test has emerged. Today, under

New York law, a party seeking to assert a claim of negligent misrepresentation against an

accountant for statements made in a financial report, where that party is not a client of the

accountant, must plead three discrete elements. The party must demonstrate that (i) the

accountant was aware that the financial report would be used for a particular purpose; (ii) the

accountant must have intended that the financial report would be used by a specific, known party

or parties; and (iii) there was affirmative conduct on the part of the accountant, linking them to

that party or parties and demonstrating the accountant’s awareness that the party or parties would

be relying on the financial statements. Credit Alliance Corp. v. Arthur Andersen & Co., 65

N.Y.2d 536, 551, amended, 66 N.Y.2d 812 (1985). The third prong, in particular, is the lynchpin

protecting what the Court of Appeals has described as the “citadel of privity” protecting auditors

from liability to entities which are neither signatories to the engagement agreement nor

mentioned therein. Ultramares, 255 N.Y. at 445 (1931). Taken together, the complaint must
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7

allege that the totality of a plaintiff’s relationship with the accountant was such that it approaches

contractual privity between the plaintiff and the accountant. Sec. Pac. Bus. Credit, 79 N.Y.2d at

702-703. Here, MVC has failed to properly plead even a single element of the Credit Alliance

test, and its claim against RSM for negligent misrepresentation must necessarily be dismissed.

This strong policy against holding auditors liable to third parties was demonstrated in a

recent case with facts remarkably similar to those alleged by MVC. Indeed, almost identical

allegations were rejected by the Second Department in Signature Bank v. Holtz Rubenstein

Reminick, LLP, 109 A.D.3d 465 (2d Dep’t 2013).

Signature Bank was an action brought by a plaintiff who had lent money to a borrower,

allegedly based on audited financial statements; the borrower declared bankruptcy shortly after

receiving the loan proceeds, and the lender brought suit against the auditor. The trial court

initially held that the lender had adequately satisfied the third prong of Credit Alliance, based on

the allegation that the auditor “knew” that the lender was relying on the audit reports as part of

its lending decision. Knowledge and linking conduct were present, according to the trial court,

because (1) an executive affiliated with the borrower supposedly informed the auditor of this,

and (2) the lender had “several conversations” with the auditor concerning the borrower’s

financial viability. Signature Bank v. Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP, Index No. 15936/2011,

2012 WL 11980647, at *2 (Sup. Ct. Nassau Co. Aug. 14, 2012). Notably, the Second

Department reversed, holding that the lender’s allegations referred to by the trial court (which

are almost identical to those made by MVC in the instant matter) failed to satisfy the Credit

Alliance test, and directed the trial court to dismiss the negligent misrepresentation claim.

Signature Bank, 109 A.D.3d at 466-67; see also, Westpac Banking Corp. v. Deschamps, 66

N.Y.2d 16 (1985) (holding that an auditor may not be liable to a lender even where the auditor
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knew that its reports would be used by potential lenders and that plaintiff was one of the likely

potential lenders). As discussed below, the same outcome is required here.

II. THE ALLEGATIONS IN MVC’S COMPLAINT FAIL TO MEET THE HIGH
THRESHOLD FOR THIRD PARTY CLAIMS AGAINST AN ACCOUNTANT.

A. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM was Aware that its Financial Reports
Would be Used As a Basis for MVC’s Lending Decision.

The first prong of the Credit Alliance test requires the complaint to plead that the report

in question was prepared with a particular purpose in mind. Credit Alliance, 65 N.Y.2d at 551.

Here, MVC would be required to plead that RSM was aware that its audit report would be used

as the basis for MVC’s decision whether or not to lend to G3K, and that RSM prepared its audit

report with that intent in mind. Nothing in the Complaint rises to that level as a matter of law.

Two allegations possibly relevant to this first element are an email from a G3K executive to an

RSM employee stating that “it looks like MVC will be requiring McGladrey to perform a review

of some kind for 9/30/13” and proposing a conference call, Complaint ¶ 21, and the conclusory

statement that G3K “informed McGladrey of MVC’s heightened requirement.” Complaint ¶ 23.

A request for “some sort of review” is substantively different than a formal audit.

Indeed, the American Institute of CPAs explicitly distinguishes between an “review” and an

“audit”, noting that a “review” is intended only to provide a “basic level of assurance on the

accuracy of financial statements”, while an “audit” is intended to provide “a high level of

comfort on the accuracy of financial statements” and involves a formal “opinion on whether the

financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects”. American Institute of CPAs,

Guide to Financial Statement Services: Compilation, Review and Audit, available at

https://www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/PrivateCompaniesPracticeSection/QualityServicesDelivery/

KeepingUp/DownloadableDocuments/financial-statement-services-guide.pdf. Furthermore, the

reference to “9/30/13” is for a different time period than what RSM actually audited, namely the
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year ending December 31, 2013. There thus is no indication that there was any agreement as to

the scope of work to be performed, nor is there any indication that the proposed conference call

ever took place. None of these allegations demonstrate that RSM prepared its audit report with

the specific intent that the report would be utilized and relied upon by MVC. MVC’s bald

assertion that RSM had “the knowledge and understanding that it was asked to [provide an audit

report] in order to provide MVC with comfort”, Complaint ¶ 23, is a bare legal conclusion,

which is not presumed to be true even on a motion to dismiss. Breytman v. Olinville Realty,

LLC, 54 A.D.3d 703, 704 (2d Dep’t 2008).

The only other allegations potentially relevant to RSM’s supposed awareness of MVC’s

desire to use the audit report to assist in its loan decision are vague and inconclusive. MVC

alleges that MVC and RSM “communicated” regarding unspecified subjects during the course of

the audit, and that RSM “sent a draft” of the audit report to a group which included an individual

purportedly employed by MVC. Notably, the draft was specifically directed toward an

individual at BDO, another auditing firm, and the cover email explicitly referenced BDO’s

review of the audit workpapers for the benefit of MVC. Jay Aff., Exhibit C. This

communication is evidence that RSM did not know that MVC would rely directly on its audit

report, but rather expected MVC to engage in its own independent review, using auditors MVC

itself had engaged, before determining whether or not to lend money to G3K.

All other allegations relate to G3K’s use of the audit report, and in particular G3K’s

relationship with MVC. This simply does not meet New York’s near-privity requirement. As

discussed above, the Second Circuit rejected a finding of near privity on nearly identical facts.

See Signature Bank, 109 A.D.3d at 466-67; see also State St. Trust Co. v. Ernst, 278 N.Y. 104,

111 (1938) (“in the absence of a contractual relationship or its equivalent, accountants cannot be
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held liable for ordinary negligence in preparing a certified balance sheet even though they are

aware that the balance sheet will be used to obtain credit”) (emphasis supplied).

B. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM was Aware that MVC Would Rely on
its Financial Reports and Intended for MVC to Do So.

The second prong of the Credit Alliance test requires a plaintiff to demonstrate that the

accountant intended a specific party or parties to rely on its report. Credit Alliance, 65 N.Y.2d at

551. Plaintiff fails to plead, other than in a conclusory and unsupported fashion, that RSM knew

that MVC specifically would receive and rely on the final audit reports. Without such

specificity, the second prong of the Credit Alliance test is not met. Westpac, 66 N.Y.2d 16; see

also Sykes, 15 N.Y.3d at 373.

Westpac involved an action brought by a lender, Westpac, against an auditor, Seidman &

Seidman, which prepared financial statements for a company; these statements were allegedly

relied upon by Westpac in determining whether to extend credit to the company. Following

Westpac’s extension of a bridge loan, significant fraud emerged, the company’s planned public

offering (the proceeds of which were intended to repay the bridge loan) was cancelled, and the

loan became uncollectible. In its complaint, Westpac alleged that the auditor knew not only that

the company was in the process of obtaining additional financing from third-party lenders, but

knew that Westpac was the largest existing lender and thus the most likely to extend additional

credit. The Court of Appeals nonetheless held that this was insufficient to satisfy the

particularity requirement of the Credit Alliance test, and ordered the action dismissed. Despite

the auditor’s potential knowledge of Westpac’s interest, the Court noted the lack of any

“allegation of any word or action on the part of [Seidman & Seidman] directed to Westpac, or

anything contained in [Seidman & Seidman’s] retainer agreement with [the borrower] which

provided the necessary link” between Westpac and the auditor. Again, MVC’s allegations do not
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meet the mark, including because MVC is not a party to the engagement letter, it is not

referenced in the engagement letter, and there is no indication that RSM had knowledge that its

final audit report was shared with MVC, much less that RSM intended to have it shared and

relied upon by MVC. This, too, requires dismissal of MVC’s Complaint.

C. Plaintiff has Failed to Plead that RSM Acted In a Way Demonstrating
RSM’s Awareness of MVC’s Reliance on the Financial Reports As a Basis
for MVC’s Decision to Lend to G3K.

MVC’s complaint also fails to adequately plead the third prong of the Credit Alliance

test. This prong, which as noted above is perhaps the most critical and the most difficult to

satisfy, requires MVC to establish a direct relationship with RSM, based upon the auditor’s

affirmative conduct, evincing RSM’s understanding that MVC will be relying on its audited

financial reports. Credit Alliance, 65 N.Y.2d at 551; see also Signature Bank, 109 A.D.3d at

466-67 (2d Dep’t 2013); LaSalle Nat’l Bank v. Ernst & Young LLP, 285 A.D.3d 101, 108 (1st

Dep’t 2001); Parrott v. Coopers & Lybrand, LLP, 263 A.D.2d 316, 321 (1st Dep’t 2000), aff’d,

95 N.Y.2d 479 (2000). Without this affirmative linking conduct, the alleged relationship

between RSM and MVC is too attenuated for RSM to be held liable for G3K’s extensive fraud.

As discussed in Section I, supra, this prong is both the most important, and the most difficult to

satisfy, and unsurprisingly MVC fails to do so here.

Only four paragraphs in MVC’s complaint allege any direct contact between RSM and

MVC. See Complaint ¶¶ 21, 24, 25, 64. All other contact alleged in the complaint is indirect,

and places G3K as the middle-man providing information separately to MVC and RSM. Taken

together, such unspecific, minimal and sporadic communications between the parties fail to

allege “linking conduct” sufficient to establish near privity. As the Second Department held in

Signature Bank, “Here, the allegations supporting the cause of action to recover damages for

negligent misrepresentation do not satisfy the third Credit Alliance prong.… [T]he complaint
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failed to allege some conduct of the defendant ‘linking’ it to the plaintiff which evinced the

defendant’s understanding of the plaintiff’s reliance. [Citations omitted]. Accordingly, the

Supreme Court should have granted the subject branch of the defendant’s motion.” Signature

Bank, 109 A.D.3d at 466-67. The Second Department came to this conclusion notwithstanding

the trial court noting that the plaintiff/lender, Signature Bank, had alleged that the audit firm

knew, through the Chief Executive Officer of the audit firm’s lendee/audit client, that “plaintiff

[Signature Bank] relied on the 2008 audit report to determine whether to extend credit.”

Signature Bank, 2012 WL 11980647 at *2. Signature Bank further alleged “that it had several

communications with [the auditor] concerning the [lendee] company’s financial viability.” As is

the case here, however, such communications are insufficient to establish the necessary “linking”

conduct to satisfy the third prong of Credit Alliance. Signature Bank, 109 A.D.3d at 466-67.

See also LaSalle Nat’l Bank, 285 A.D.3d at 108 (finding minimal or sporadic communications to

be insufficient to satisfy prong three of the Credit Alliance test); Westpac, 66 N.Y.2d at 19

(1985) (noting plaintiff lender’s absence from the engagement agreement between borrower and

auditor in dismissing negligent misrepresentation action).

The lack of substantive communications between the parties is also important. See

Parrott, 263 A.D.2d at 321 (“The factors utilized in demonstrating the requisite relationship

depend not only on the number of contacts but also on the substantive nature of the contacts.”);

see also CRT Invs., Ltd. v. BDO Seidman, LLP, 85 A.D.3d 470 (1st Dep’t 2011) (internal

citations omitted) (holding that “minimal or nonexistent” contact between accountant and

plaintiff is insufficient to support recovery, even where plaintiff, unlike MVC, was actually

entitled to receive a copy of the audited financial statements).
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Based on the allegations of the Complaint, RSM took no action demonstrating its

awareness of MVC’s reliance on its audit report. Indeed, considering BDO’s involvement, RSM

could have reasonably concluded that MVC was relying not on RSM’s report, but on BDO’s

independent review in coming to its decision to extend credit to G3K. Without any further

linking conduct, none of which is alleged, MVC cannot satisfy the Credit Alliance factors. This

is particularly true in light of MVC’s admissions in other cases that it relied in great part upon its

own due diligence in making its lending decision to G3K.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant RSM US LLP respectfully requests that the single

claim against it in the Complaint be dismissed with prejudice.

Dated: New York, New York
March 21, 2017

ARNOLD & PORTER
KAYE SCHOLER LLP

By: /s/ Veronica E. Callahan
Veronica E. Callahan
Ian Jay
Harry Fidler
250 West 55th Street
New York, NY 10019
212-836-8000
veronica.callahan@apks.com

Attorneys for Defendant RSM US LLP
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BROWARD COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

S. DAVIS & ASSOCIATES, P.A. 

Petitioner, 	 Re: 	External Audit Services 
Solicitation No. R2112554P2 

v. 

BROWARD COUNTY BOARD 
OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, 

Respondent. 

STIPULATION FOR APPEAL  

Broward County (the "County"), S. Davis & Associates, P.A. ("Davis") and RSM US LLP 

("RSM") stipulate as follows: 

1. RSM stipulates that the words spoken by Robert Feldman, Partner at RSM, at the 

reconvened evaluation committee meeting on July 19, 2017 are correctly transcribed on the 

transcription attachbd as Joint Exhibit 14 to the appeal. 

2. RSM also states the following as updates on the two pending litigation cases cited 

by Davis, per Davis's request, since the reconvened evaluation committee: 

a. In the RS Investments case, the Court granted RSM's Motion to Dismiss 

with prejudice on August 31, 2017. A copy of the Order is attached as Exhibit A. 

b. In the MVC case, upon request from the Court RSM withdrew its Motion 

to Dismiss without prejudice on April 6, 2017, pending additional discovery on the issue of 

privity. A copy of the withdrawal is attached as Exhibit B. 
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3. Davis stipulates that in exchange for this stipulation, it will not seek testimony 

from Robert Feldmann or anyone with or employed by RSM at the Final Hearing for this 

Appeal. 

4. This stipulation is made for the purpose of facilitating the final hearing. RSM 

reserves the right to dispute the relevancy of or weight given to the information contained herein. 

Dated this .,42  day of.54,7eWe7Z,  , 2017. 

      

BROWARD COUNTY 
Joni Armstrong Coffey 
Broward County Attorney 
Governmental Center, Suite 423 
115 South Andrews Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 
Telephone: (954) 357-7600 
Telecopier: (954) 357-7641 

By: 	  
Daphne E. Jon0 
Assistant County Attorney 

 

Shutts & Bowen, LLP 
200 East Broward Boulevard, Suite 2100 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

By: 	  
Joseph M. Goldstein, Attorney for 
S. Davis & Associates, P.A. 

By: 

     

     

Neil K. Sharma 
Assistant County Attorney 
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Intervenor 
Becker & Poliakoff, P.A. 
625 N. Flagler Drive, 7th  Floor 
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 

By:  ".  
Mark J. templer, ttorney for RSM 
US LLP 

ACTIVE: 10128815_1 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, LAW DIVISION 

RS Investments Limited, Corrado 
Investments Limited, Eden Rock 
Finance Master Limited, Eden Rock 
Asset Based Lending Master Ltd., Eden 
Rock Unleveraged Finance Master 
Limited and Solid Rock Special 
Situations 2 Ltd., 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

RSM US LLP, RSM Cayman Ltd., and 
Simon Lesser, 

Defendants. 

No. 16 L 11459 

Calendar S 

Judge Raymond W. Mitchell 

ORDER 

This matter is before the Court on Defendants RSM US LLP and Simon 
Lesser's motion to dismiss Plaintiffs RS Investments Limited, Corrado Investments 
Limited, Eden Rock Finance Master Limited, Eden Rock Asset Based Lending 
Master Ltd., Eden Rock Unleveraged Finance Master Limited and Solid Rock 
Special Situations 2 Ltd.'s complaint and Defendant RSM Cayman Ltd.'s motion to 
dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-615 and 735 ILCS 5/2-619. 

I. 

Plaintiffs are various investment funds that invested in Lancelot Investors 
Fund, LTD, which collapsed after heavily investing in companies that were part of a 
Ponzi scheme. After the scheme was revealed, Lancelot went into bankruptcy and 
liquidation proceedings. Plaintiffs allege that Defendants RSM US LLP and RSM 
Cayman Ltd. served as auditors of Lancelot and Defendant Simon Lesser was the 
responsible audit partner. Plaintiffs further allege that Defendants provided 
Plaintiffs with "clean" audit opinions from 2004 through 2008, and in reliance on 
those opinions, Plaintiffs invested more than $79 million dollars in Lancelot and 
consequently lost that money. Plaintiffs filed a three-count complaint alleging 
fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and professional malpractice. Defendants now 
move to dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint in its entirety. 



II. 

A section 2-619 motion to dismiss admits the legal sufficiency of the 
complaint. 735 ILCS 5/2-619. The purpose of a section 2-619 motion to dismiss is to 
dispose of issues of law and easily proved issues of fact at the outset of the 
litigation. Henry v. Gallagher, 383 Ill. App. 3d 901, 903 (1st Dist. 2008). Although 
a section 2-619 motion to dismiss admits the legal sufficiency of a complaint, it 
raises defects, defenses, or some other affirmative matter appearing on the face of 
the complaint or established by external submissions, which defeat the plaintiffs 
claim. Ball v. County of Cook, 385 Ill. App. 3d 103, 107 (1st Dist. 2008). 

Unlike a section 2-619 motion, a section 2-615 motion attacks the sufficiency 
of a complaint and raises the question of whether a complaint states a cause of 
action upon which relief can be granted. Fox v. Seiden, 382 III. App. 3d 288, 294 
(1st Dist. 2008). All well-pleaded facts must be taken as true and any inferences 
should be drawn in favor of the non-movant. 735 ILCS 5/2-615; Hammond v. S.I. 
Boo, LLC, 386 Ill. App. 3d 906, 908 (1st Dist. 2008). Plaintiffs are not required to 
prove their case at the pleading stage; they are merely required to allege sufficient 
facts to state all elements which are necessary to constitute each cause of action in 
their complaint. Visvardis v. Eric P. Ferleger, P.C., 375 Ill. App. 3d 719, 724 (1st 
Dist. 2007). A 2-615 motion to dismiss should not be granted unless no set of facts 
could be proved that would entitle the plaintiff to relief. Beacham v. Walker, 231 Ill. 
2d 51, 58 (2008). 

All Defendants move to dismiss on the basis that Plaintiffs, as shareholders 
of Lancelot, lack standing to sue directly for the company's losses. For issues related 
to corporate governance, Illinois courts apply the law of the place of incorporation. 
See Spillyards v. Abboud, 278 Ill. App. 3d 663, 667 (1st Dist. 1996). Plaintiff 
contends that Defendants' engagement letters and the Lancelot's offering 
memorandum contain choice of law provisions that choose Illinois law to govern 
claims arising from services rendered under those agreements. But the choice-of-
law provisions govern only the validity and effect of those agreements; they do not 
reach issues of corporate governance. See, e.g., Bagdon v. Bridgestone/Firestone, 
Inc., 916 F.2d 379, 383 (7th Cir. 1990). The issue of whether Plaintiffs may properly 
assert claims in a direct action rather than a derivative action is therefore 
determined by application of Cayman substantive law because Lancelot is a 
Cayman company. See Lipman v. Batterson, 316 HI. App. 3d 1211, 1215 (1st Dist. 
2000). 

Under Illinois law, the laws of foreign countries must be established as any 
other fact. Bangaly v. Baggiani, 2014 IL App (1st) 123760, ¶ 145. In cases where 
any dispute exists regarding the application of foreign law, expert testimony 
regarding the meaning of the applicable law is essential. Atwood Vacuum Machine 
Co. v. Continental Casualty Co., 107 Ill. App. 2d 248 (1st Dist. 1969). Regarding the 
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application of Cayman law, Defendants submitted affidavits of Aristotelis 
Alexandros Galatopoulos and Plaintiffs submitted an affidavit of William Helfrecht. 
Helfrecht acknowledges that the law of Cayman's reflective loss doctrine is 
"generally represented accurately" in Galatopoulos's affidavit. Plaintiffs argue that 
Galatopoulos' affidavit is inadmissible because it contains conclusions of law. But 
Illinois courts can rely upon expert testimony by way of affidavit to establish and 
assist in the interpretation of foreign law. See, e.g., Bangaly, 2014 IL App (1st) 
123760, 11165. 

Cayman law adopts the English common law doctrine of "reflective loss." 
Svanstrom v. Jonasson [1997] CILR 192. The leading case on reflective loss is 
Johnson v. Gore Wood & Co, an English case decided by the House of Lords. [2002] 
2 AC 1. In delivering the principal judgment of the court, Lord Bingham 
summarized the reflective loss doctrine as follows: 

Where a company suffers loss caused by a breach of duty 
owed to it, only the company may sue in respect of that 
loss. No action lies at the suit of a shareholder suing in 
that capacity and no other to make good a diminution in 
the value of the shareholder's shareholding where that 
merely reflects the loss suffered by the company. A claim 
will not lie by a shareholder to make good a loss which 
would be made good if the company's assets were 
replenished through action against the party responsible 
for the loss, even if the company, acting through its 
constitutional organs, has declined or failed to make good 
that loss. 

Id. In other words, where a third party has wrongly caused a company's losses, a 
shareholder cannot maintain a direct action against the third party if the 
shareholder's loss would be made good by a successful action by the company 
against the third party. The rationale for the decision in Johnson was that the loss 
suffered by the shareholder is linked to and inseparable from general losses of the 
relevant company. 

Plaintiff argues that its claims fall within two notable situations in which the 
reflective loss doctrine has no application. Lord Bingham summarized the first 
situation: 

Where a company suffers loss but has no cause of action 
to sue to recover that loss, the shareholder in the 
company may sue in respect of it (if the shareholder has a 
cause of action to do so), even though the loss is a 
diminution in the value of the shareholding. 
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Id. Here, however, Lancelot had a cause of action against Defendants. Indeed, the 
company's trustee in bankruptcy brought those claims against Defendants in 
federal court. See Peterson v. McGladrey LLP, 792 F.3d 785 (7th Cir. 2015). While 
the Seventh Circuit dismissed those claims under the doctrine of in pari delicto, 
dismissal of a company's claims subject to a successful defense does not permit a 
shareholder to then pursue otherwise reflective claims. "The principal applies even 
where the facts preclude double recovery, for example where the company has 
compromised its claim or chosen not to pursue it or where there is a defence to the 
company's claim which is not available with regard to the shareholder's claim." 
Victor Joffe and James Mather, The Vanishing Exception, 158 NLJ 1677 (2008); 
Day v. Cook, [2002] 1 BCLC 1, ¶38. Because Lancelot had claims to recover its 
losses, this first situation is not present. 

Lord Bingham summarized the second situation: 

Where a company suffers loss caused by a breach of duty 
to it, and a shareholder suffers a loss separate and 
distinct from that suffered by the company caused by 
breach of a duty independently owed to the shareholder, 
each may sue to recover the loss caused to it by breach of 
the duty owed to it, but neither may recover loss caused to 
the other by breach of the duty caused to that other. 

Johnson v. Gore Wood & Co. [2002] 2 AC 1. Plaintiffs' losses, however, were not 
separate and distinct from Lancelot's loss. Where a company suffers loss caused by 
the breach of a duty owed both to the company and to the shareholder, "the 
shareholder's loss, in so far as this is measured by the diminution in value of his 
shareholding or the loss of dividends, merely reflects the loss suffered by the 
company in respect of which the company has its own cause of action." Id. Here, the 
professional negligence and misrepresentation claims allege breaches of duties owed 
to both Lancelot and its shareholders, and Plaintiffs' losses are measured solely by 
the diminution in the value of their shares. Moreover, Plaintiffs' fraud claim is not 
separate and distinct because the financial information Plaintiffs allegedly relied 
upon was distributed to all shareholders. In reaching the same conclusion, another 
court explained why individual shareholders' claims were not separate and distinct: 

The alleged professional negligence and misrepresentations 
were suffered by many creditors, not just McKinley. The 
financial information McKinley relied upon was distributed 
to all investors, not individually to McKinley. This puts 
McKinley in the same shoes as other investors who relied 
upon the financial reports. This is apparent based on the 
multitude of other lawsuits filed by other creditors of the 



estate against McGladrey alleging claims sounding in 
misrepresentation and professional negligence. All parties 
that invested in the Debtors, including McKinley, lost their 
investments because of Petters' alleged fraudulent conduct 
which may have been facilitated by McGladrey's alleged 
negligence and misrepresentations regarding the Debtors' 
financial condition. McKinley's claims are no different than 
those claims. 

Peterson v. Ellerbrock Family Trust, LLC (In re Lancelot Investors Fund, L.P.), 408 
B.R. 167, 172 (Bankr. N.D. Ill. 2009). Because Plaintiffs' claims are not separate 
and distinct, this second situation is not present here. 

Plaintiffs argue that this Court should defer to the Seventh Circuit's decision 
in Peterson v. McGladrey & Pullen: 

Corporate and securities law rely on both managers and 
accountants to protect investors' interests. There would be 
a major gap in those bodies of law if, when one turns out 
to be a scamp, then the other is excused from performing 
his own duties, and investors are left unprotected. But 
that's not the outcome of applying the pari delicto 
doctrine to the Trustee's suit. The Trustee stepped into 
the shoes of the Funds, not the shoes of the investors. 
People who put up money have their own claims. 

. . a claim [by investors] against McGladrey may offer 
some recompense, if the auditor was indeed negligent or 
willfully blind. 

. . . Proceedings on the investors' claims have been stayed 
pending resolution of the Trustee's suit. It is time to bring 
the investors' claims to the fore. 

792 F.3d 785, 788-89 (2015). This language, however, is not inconsistent with the 
analysis here. If Plaintiffs' claims were separate and distinct from the injury 
suffered by the company, the in pari delicto doctrine would not bar Plaintiffs' 
claims. Plaintiffs would indeed have their own claims and now would be the time to 
bring those claims. But the McGladrey court did not discuss the merits of, or 
defenses to, Plaintiffs' claims—the Seventh Circuit did not analyze whether 
Plaintiffs' claims were separate and distinct from the injury suffered by the 
company or whether Cayman's reflective loss doctrine otherwise applied. In this 
regard, the McGladrey court did not rule that Plaintiffs have standing to bring their 
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claims. None of Plaintiffs' arguments forecloses the application of the reflective loss 
doctrine in this case.' 

Based on the foregoing, it is hereby ORDERED: 

(1) RSM US LLP's motion to dismiss is GRANTED. Plaintiffs RS 
Investments Limited, Corrado Investments Limited, Eden Rock 
Finance Master Limited, Eden Rock Asset Based Lending Master Ltd., 
Eden Rock Unleveraged Finance Master Limited and Solid Rock 
Special Situations 2 Ltd.'s complaint is dismissed with prejudice. 

(2) All future dates are stricken. 

(3) This is a final order that disposes of the case in its entirety. 

Judge Raymond W. Mitchell 
ENTERED, 	

AUG 3 1 2 017 

Circuit Court — 1992 

Judge Raymond W. Mitchell, No. 1992 

Because Plaintiffs lack standing to assert their claims, the Court does not 
reach the section 2-615 bases for dismissal. 
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